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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN WOVEN TEXTILE FABRICS Inv. No. 337-TA-976
AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

ORDER NO. 21: INITIAL DETERMINATION GRANTING COMPLAINANT
AAVN,INC.’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY DETERMINATION

ITHAT RESPONDENT PRADIP OVERSEAS LTD. HAS
VIOLATED SECTION 337

(November 10, 2016)

On September 1, 2016, complainant AAVN, Inc. (“AAVN”) filed a motion for summary

determination that respondent Pradip Overseas Ltd. (“Pradip”) has violated Section 337 through

false advertising of the thread counts of its woven textile fabrics in violation of the Lanham Act.1

(Motion N0. 976-027.) AAVN further argues that a general exclusion order is warranted and

that the bond be set at 100% during the Presidential Review Period. On September 15, 2016, the

Commission Investigative Staff (“Staff”) submitted a response supporting the motion. As of the

date of this order, no other party has responded.

I. BACKGROUND

A. Institution and Procedural History of This Investigation 1

By publication of a notice in the Federal Register on December 18, 2015, pursuant to

subsection (b) of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, the Commission instituted

this investigation to determine:

' Motion No. 976-027 also sought leave to file the motion for summary determination out of time. (Mot. at 1.) Staff
does not oppose the motion for leave. The Motion for Leave to file a Summary Determination Motion out of time is
hereby GRANTED.
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whether there is a violation of subsection (a)(1)(A) of section 337 in the
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or in the sale of
certain woven textile fabrics and products containing same by reason of false
advertising, the threat or effect of which is to destroy or substantially injure an
industry in the United States.

80 Fed. Reg. 79095 (December 18, 2015).2

The complainant is AAVN, Inc. of Richardson, Texas. (Id.) The remaining respondent

is Pradip Overseas Ltd. of Alnnedabad, India. (Id.) The other named respondents were

terminated from the investigation based on Consent Order and/or settlement agreement.

On January 28, 2016, the ALJ issued an Initial Detennination granting a motion to

terminate the investigation as to respondent Westport Linens, Inc. (“Westport”) on the basis of a

consent order. (Order No. 8 (January 28, 2016).) The Commission determined not to review the

Initial Determination. (See Notice of Commission Decision Not To Review an Initial

Determination Terminating the Investigation As To One Respondent on the Basis of a Consent

Order Stipulation and Proposed Consent Order (February 26, 2016).)

On March 10, 2016, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination granting a joint motion to

tenninate the investigation as to respondents Indo Count Industries Ltd. (“Indo Count India”) and

Indo Count Global, Inc. (“Indo Count USA”) on the basis of a settlement agreement and a
/

license agreement. (Order No. 10 (March 10, 2016).) The Commission determined not to

review the Initial Determination. (See Notice of Commission Decision Not to Review an Initial

Determination Tenninating the Investigation As To Two Respondents On The Basis of a

Settlement Agreement (April 4, 2016).) I

2The Notice of Investigation also included allegations of patent infringement pursuant to subsection (a)(l)(B)
against other respondents. However, the Complaint did not include allegations of patent infringement against Pradip
—only allegations of false advertising were asserted against Pradip.‘ See Order No. 20 and Second Amended
Complaint at 1| 1 (distinguishing between “Proposed Patent Respondents” and “Proposed False Advertising
Respondents” wherein Pradip is only listed as a “Proposed False Advertising Respondent”).
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On March 22, 2016, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination granting a joint motion to

terminate the investigation as to respondent Elite Home Products, Inc. (“Elite”) on the basis of a

settlement agreement and a consent order. (Order No. 11 (March 22, 2016).) The Commission

determined not to review the Initial Determination. (See Notice of Commission Decision Not to

Review an ID Terminating the Investigation as to One Respondent on the Basis of a Consent

Order Stipulation and Proposed Consent Order (April 19, 2016).)

On April 14, 2016, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination granting a joint motion to

terminate the investigation as to respondent AQ Textiles, LLC (“AQ Textiles”) on the basis of a

settlement agreement and a consent order. (Order No. 12 (April 14, 2016).) The Commission

determined not to review the Initial Determination. (See Notice of Commission Decision Not to

Review Two Initial Determinations Terminating the Investigation As To Two Respondents On

the Basis of Settlement Agreements and Proposed Consent Orders (May 13, 2016).)

Also on April 14, 2016, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination granting an amended

joint motion to terminate the investigation as to respondent Creative Textile Mills Pvt. Ltd.

(“Creative”) on the basis of a settlement agreement and a consent order. (Order No. 13(April 14,

2016).) The Commission determined not to review the Initial Determination. (See Notice of

Commission Decision Not to Review Two Initial Determinations Terminating the Investigation

As To Two Respondents On the Basis of Settlement Agreements and Proposed Consent Orders

(May 13, 2016).)

On April l9, 2016, the ALJ issued an Order granting a motion filed by Pradip’s counsel

to withdraw as counsel because Pradip had terminated their representation in this investigation.

(Order No. 14 (April 19, 2016).) Pradip represented that “it will not seek new counsel or

participate in the remainder of the investigation.” (Id. at l.)
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On April 25, 2016, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination granting a joint motion to

terminate the investigation as to respondents GHCL Ltd. (“GHCL”) and Grace Home Fashions

LLC (“GHFL”) on the basis of a settlement agreement and a consent order. (Order No. 15(April

25, 2016).) The Commission detennined not to review the Initial Determination. (See Notice of

Commission Decision Not to Review An Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation As

To Two Respondents on -the Basis Of a Settlement Agreement and Proposed Consent Order

(May 13, 2016).)

On May 3, 2016, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination granting a joint motion to

tenninate the investigation as to respondents Amrapur Overseas, Inc. (“Amrapur”) and Pacific

Coast Textiles, Inc. (“Pacific Coast Textiles”) on the basis of a license agreement. (Order No. 16

(May 3, 2016).) The Commission determined not to review the Initial Determination. (See

Notice of Commission Decision Not to Review Two Initial Determinations Terminating the

Investigation As To Two Respondents on the Basis of Settlement and Two Respondents on the

Basis of a Proposed Consent Order (May 24, 2016).)

Also on May 3, 2016, the AL] issued an Initial Determination granting an amended

motion to terminate the investigation as to respondents E&E Company, Ltd. (“E&E India”) and

E&E Company, Ltd., d/b/a/ JLA Home (“E&E USA”) on the basis of a consent order. (Order

No. 17 (May 3, 2016).) The Commission determined not to review the Initial Determination.

(See Notice of Commission Decision Not to Review Two Initial Determinations Terminating the

Investigation As To Two Respondents on the Basis of Settlement and Two Respondents on the

Basis of a Proposed Consent Order (May 24, 2016).) ~

On June 23, 2016, the ALJ issued an Initial Determination granting a joint motion to

tenninate the investigation as to respondents Welspun Global Brands, Ltd. (“Welspun Global”)
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and Welspun USA, Inc. (“Welspun USA”) based on a settlement agreement. (Order No. 18 (June

23, 2016).) The Commission determined not to review the Initial Determination. (See Notice of

Commission Decision Not to Review An Initial Determination Tcnninating the Investigation As

To Two Respondents On the Basis of a Settlement Agreement (July 21, 2016).)

. On June 30, 2016, the ALJ issued an Order denying AAVN’s motion for leave to file a

Third Amended Complaint adding allegations of patent infringement against Pradip. (Order No.

19 (June 30, 2016).) On that same day, the ALJ issued an order granting AAVN’s motion to stay

the Procedural Schedule noting that AAVN_would seek to file the instant motion for summary

detennination of violation. (Order No, 20 (June 30, 2016).)

B. The Parties

AAVN, Inc. -is a Texas corporation with its principal place of business in Richardson,

TX. (Second Amended Complaint at 1[ 7.) AAVN is in the business of researching and

developing woven textile products and licensing its intellectual property. (1d.) AAVN. and its

wholly-owned subsidiary, Next Creations Holdings, LLC (“NEXTT”), reported revenue of over

$500 million and were rated as the largest bedding company in North America by both The Wall

Street Journal and Home Textiles Today. (Id.jat 1]2; Mot. at Ex. l (Witness Statement of Amn

Agarwal), Q and A 6.)

Respondent Pradip Overseas'Ltd. (“Pradip”) is a corporation organized under the laws of

the Republic of India with its principal place of business in Ahrnedabad, India. (Mot., Ex. 5

(Pradip’s Response to Second Amended Complaint) at 1] 39.) Pradip is in the business of

manufacturing, designing and developing woven textile fabrics. (Id. at 1]40.)
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C. The Product at Issue ‘

The products at issue are woven textile fabrics and products containing same including

bedding products, such as Pradip’s “Westwood” 900 Thread Count Sheets” and “Chantilly 600

Thread Count Sheet Set.” (Mot., Ex. 5 at 111]40, 58.) I

II. LEGAL STANDARDS

A. Summary-Determination

Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.18, summary determination “... shall be rendered if

pleadings‘and any depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with

the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the

moving party is entitled to a summary determination as a matter of law.” 19 C.F.R. § 210.l8(b);

see also DeMarini Sports, Inc. v. Worth, Inc., 239 F.3d 1314, 1322 (Fed. Cir. 2001); Wenger

Mfg., Inc. v. Coating Machinery Systems, Inc., 239 F.3d 1225, 1231 (Fed. Cir. 2001). The

evidence “must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion . . . with

doubt resolved in favor of the nonmovant.” Crown Operations Int ’l, Ltd. v. Solutia, lnc., 289

F.3d 1367, 1375 (Fed. Cir. 2002); see also Xerox Corp. v. 3Com Corp, 267 F.3d 1361, 1364

(Fed. Cir. 2001) (“When ruling on a motion for summary judgment, all of the nonmovant’s

evidence is to be credited, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in the nonmovant’s

favor.”). “Issues of fact are genuine only ‘if the evidence is such that a reasonable [fact finder]

could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.”’ Id. at 1375 (quoting Anderson v. Liberty

Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)). The trier of fact should “assure itself that there is no

reasonable version of the facts, on the summary judgment record, whereby the nonmovant could

prevail, recognizing that the purpose of summary judgment is not to deprive a litigant of a fair

hearing, but to avoid an unnecessary trial.” EMI Group North America, Inc. v. Intel Corp, 157
- 6
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F.3d 887, 891 (Fed. Cir. 1998). “Where an issue as to a material fact cannot be resolved without

observation of the demeanor of witnesses in order to evaluate their credibility, summary

judgment is not appropriate.” Sandt Technology, Ltd. v. Resco Metal and Plastics Corp, 264

F.3d 1344, 1357 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (Dyk, C.J., concurring). “In other words, ‘[s]ummary

judgment is authorized when it is quite clear what the truth is,’ [citations omitted], and the law

requires judgment in favor of the movant based upon facts not in genuine dispute.” Paragon

Podiatry Laboratory, Inc. v. KLM Laboratories, Inc., 984 F.2d 1182, 1185 (Fed. Cir. 1993).
/

A violation of Section 337 may not be found unless supported by “reliable, probative, and

substantial evidence.” 35 U.S.C. § 559; see also Certain Sildenafil or any Pharmaceutically

Acceptable Salt Thereof Such as Sildenafil Citrate and Products Containing Same, Inv. N0.

337-TA-489, Com. Op. Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding at 4-5 (July 23, 2004).

B. False Advertising 

Under the Lanham Act, it is unlawful to use in commerce, in connection with any goods

or services, any false or misleading description of fact, or false or misleading representation of

fact, which “in commercial advertising or promotion, misrepresents the nature, characteristics,

qualities, or geographic origin of his or her or another person’s goods [or] services.” 15 U.S.C.§

1125(a)(1)(B).

To prevail on a claim of false advertising under the Lanham Act, a plaintiff must prove

that: 1 - ‘ 3

1.) The defendant made false or misleading statements about his own or another person’s
product;

2.) There is actual deception or at least a tendency to deceive a substantial portion of the
intended audience; ' .

3.) The deception is material in that it is likely to influence purchasing decisions;
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4.) The advertised good traveled in interstate commerce; and

5.) There is a likelihood of injury to the [complainant] in terms of declining sales, loss of
good will, etc.

Groupe SEB USA, Inc. v. Euro-Pro Operating LLC, 774 F.3d 192, 198 (3‘d Cir. 2014); see also

Certain Light-Emitting Diode Products and Components Thereof (“LED Products”), Inv. No.

337-TA-947, Initial Determination on Violation of Section 337 and Recommended

Determination on Remedy and Bonding (“ID”), pp. 430-432 (July 29, 2016) (describing the five

elements) and Certain Cigarettes and Packaging Thereof (“Cigarettes”), Inv. No. 337-TA-424,

Initial Determination on Violation of Section 337 and Recommended Determination on Remedy

and Bonding (“ID”), pp. 43-44 (June 22, 2000) (unreviewed). _ A

In order to show element 1 (a false statement), the complainant must prove that the

advertisement is “either (1) literally false, or (2) literally true or ambiguous but likely to mislead

or deceive consumers.” Groupe SEB, 774 F.3d at 198 (citing Novartis Consumer Health, Inc. v.

Johnson & Johnson-Merck Conusmer Pharm. C0., 290 F.3d 578, 586 (3rdCir. 2002)); see also

Clorox C0. Puerto Rico v. Proctor & Gamble Commercial C0., 228 F.3d 24, 33 (lst Cir. 2000)

(“A plaintiff can succeed on a false advertising claim by proving either that an advertisement is

false on its face or that the advertisement is literally true or ambiguous but likely to mislead and

confuse consumers”) (citations omitted). In determining whether the advertisement is “literally

false,” the court must first decide whether the message is unambiguous and, second, Whether the

unambiguous message is false. Groupe SEB, 774 F.3d at 198 (citations omitted). The “literally

false message” can be either (1) explicit or (2) “conveyed by necessary implication when,

considering the advertisement in its entirety, the audience would recognize the claim as readily

as if it had been explicitly stated.” Id. at 198 (citing Novartis, 290 F.3d at 586-87). “Unless the

claim is unambiguous, it cannot be literally false.” Id. The more the message relies upon the
8 .
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consumer to integrate its components and draw apparent conclusions, the less likely it that a

finding of a literally false message. Id. at 198-199 (citing Novartis, 290 F.3d at 587).

Whether the statement is “literally false” is a question of fact. Clorox Co, 228 F.3d at 34

(citing Mead Johnson & C0. v. Abbott Labs, 209 F.3d 1032, 1034 (7th Cir. 2000).) First, the

factfinder must determine the claim conveyed by the advertisement and, second, it must then

evaluate whether the claim is false. Id. If the statement is literally false, then the ALJ “may

grant relief without considering evidence of consumer reaction.” Clorox Co., 228 F.3d at 33. If

the statement is not literally false, then the complainant must show that the statement “conveys a

misleading message to the viewing public” and must show “how consumers actually reacted to

the challenged advertisement rather than merely demonstrating how they could have reacted.”

Id.

In a Section 337 ‘investigation, a complainant who alleges false advertising as an act of

unfair competition must also show substantial injury or the threat of substantial injury to “an

industry in the United States.” 19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(l)(A)(i). To determine whether a

complainant’s domestic industry has been substantially injured, the Commission considers “a

cc
broad range of indicia” including ‘ the volume of imports and their degree of penetration, lost

sales, underselling by respondents, reductions in complainants’ profits or employment levels, and

declining production, profitability and sales.’” LED Products, ID, p. 481 (quoting Certain

Electric Power Tools, Battery Cartridges & Battery Chargers (“Electric Power Tools”), Inv. No.

337-TA-284, Initial Detennination (“ID”), p. 246 (June 2, 1989) (unreviewed).

lll. IMPORTATION ’ "v m .

Section 337(a)(l)(A) declares unlawful

Unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the importation of articles (other
than articles provided for in subparagraphs (B), (C), (D), and (E)) into the United .

9



PUBLIC VERSION

States, or in the sale of such articles by the owner, importer, or consignee, the
threat or effect of which is—~

(i) to destroy or substantially injure an industry in the United States;

(ii) to prevent the establishment of such an industry; or ‘

(iii) to restrain or monopolize trade and commerce in the United States.

19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(l)(A). A complainant “need only prove importation of a single accused

product to satisfy the importation element.” Certain Purple Protective Gloves, 337-TA-500,

Order No. 17 (September 23, 2004). Complainant must establish that the accused products were

imported into the United States, sold for importation, or sold within the United States after

importation. 19 U.S.C. i§1337(a)(l)(A).

AAVN argues that the accused products were imported orisold for importation in the

United States. (Memo. at 12.) The Staff agrees. (Staff Resp. at 9-10.) The ALJ finds that the

importation requirement has been satisfied. The evidence shows that Pradip has admitted to

importing the accused products, which are made in India. (Mot., Ex. 5 at 1H[94-95.) These

products include: (i) “Westwood 900 Tlnead Count Sheets”; (ii) “Chantilly 600 Thread Count

Sheet Set”; (iii) “Essence 600 Thread Count Sheet Set”; (iv) “East Hampton 950 Thread Count

Sheet Set”; (v) “Cambridge 400 Thread Count Sheet Set”; (vi) “Coventry Collection 650 Thread

Count Sheet Set”; (vii) “Windsor Hotel Collection 900 Thread Count Sheet Set”; (viii) “Astor

Place 650 Thread Count Sheet Set”;_and (ix) “Laura Hill 650 Thread Count Sheet Set.” (Id. at

Ex. 6 at {[1]1-2.) Thus, the importation requirement has been satisfied.

IV. JURISDICTION _ _.

In order to have the power to decide a case, a court or agency musthave both subject

matter jurisdiction and jurisdiction over either the parties or the property involved. (See Certain

Steel Rod Treating Apparatus and Components Thereofi Inv. No. 337-TA-97, Commission
IO
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Memorandum Opinion, 215 U.S.P.Q. 229, 231 (1981).) For the reasons discussed below, the

ALJ finds the Commission has jurisdiction over this investigation.

Section 337 declares unlawful unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in the

importation of articles into the United States, or in the sale of such articles, the threat or effect of

which is to destroy or substantially injure an industry in the United States. (See 19 U.S.C. §§

1337(a)(l)(A)(i).) Pursuant to Section 337, the Commission shall investigate alleged violations

of the Section and hear and decide actions involving those alleged violations.

AAVN argues that Pradip has appeared and admitted that it has imported or sold for

importation certain accused products in this Investigation, thereby consenting to both the

Commission’s in rem and in personam jurisdiction. (Mot. at 12.) Staff agrees. (Staff Resp. at

9.)

As set forth supra in Section III, the importation requirement has been satisfied.

Furthermore, Pradip has appeared and participated in this investigation before withdrawing

through its counsel. Accordingly, the ALJ finds that Pradip has submitted to the jurisdiction of

the Commission. (See Certain Miniature Hacksaws, Inv. No..337-TA-237, Pub. No. 1948,

Initial Determination at 4, 1986 WL 379287 (U.S.I.T.C., October 15, 1986) (unreviewed by

Commission~in relevant paIt).) The ALJ finds that the Commission has jurisdiction under

Section 337 to hear this investigation and has inpersonam jurisdiction over Pradip.

The ALJ also finds that the Commission has in rem jurisdiction over the products at issue

by virtue of the fact that accused products have been imported into the United States. (See

Enercon, 151 F.3d at 1380; Sealed Air Corp. v. International Trade Comm ’n, 645 F.2d 976, 985

(C.C.P.A. 1981) (An exclusion order operates against goods, not parties, and therefore is not

contingent upon a determination of personal jurisdiction over a foreign manufacturer.).').

- 1 1
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V. FALSE ADVERTISING

AAVN’s false advertising claim is based on Pradip’s false advertising of “the thread

counts of its woven textile fabric products in violation of the Lanham Act.” (Mot. at 1.) AAVN

argues that Pradip’s accused products are advertised through a “misleadingly inflated thread

count.” (ld.)

In support of its false advertising claim, AAVN cites the ASTM3 Standard 3775

(“Standard Test Method for Warp (End) and Filling (Pick) count of Woven Fabrics”). (Id. at

19.) AAVN cites the Federal Trade Commission’s determination that whether there is a

“reasonable basis” for the advertised claims relating to thread count is determined by the

procedures outlined in the ASTM Standard 3775. (Id. at 19; Mot. at Exs. 2 (FTC Letters) and 4

(ASTM Designation D3775-12 (“Standard Test Method for Warp and Filling Count of Woven

Fabrics”).) Under the ASTM Standard 3775, in order to calculate thread count, one must count

“plied components” (such as twisted fibers)4 as “single units.” (Id) The FTC has concluded that

“consumers could be deceived or misled by the practice of stating an inflated thread count,

achieved by multiplying the actual count by the number of plies within the yam” and would

likely mislead consumers about the quality of the product being purchased. (Mot. at EX. 2.)

Indeed, Pradip appears to agree that the ASTM D3775 standard is an appropriate test procedure

for measuring thread count of woven textile fabric products. (Mot at Ex. 6, Q&A 7, 17.) Using

this standard, AAVN argues that Pradip’s products have “grossly inflated thread counts,” as

confirmed in"independent testing of Pradip’s Westwood 800 Thread Count Sheets and Astor

Place 650 Thread Count Sheets. (Id. at 20.)

3“ASTM Intemational is an intemational standards organization that develops and publishes voluntary consensus
technical standards for a wide range of materials, products, systems, and services.” (Mot. atl9_.)_
4To prevent brittleness and breakages in finer synthetic threads, some manufacturers twist individual yams together,
to form a twisted combination, the “plied yam,” which increases tensile strength while sacrificing comfort. This
plied yam is then used as a single yarn in the weaving process. (Mot, Ex. 1 at Q&A 14.) ' "

. ' 12 .
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A. False or Misleading Description

The first element of establishing a claim for false advertising is showing that “the

defendant has made false or misleading statement as to his own product [or another’s].” Groupe

SEB, 774 F.3d 198. The evidence shows that AAVN has satisfied this element. The independent

testing under the ASTM Standard shows that the actual thread counts are 407 for the Astor Place

650 Thread Count Sheets (advertised as 650 thread count sheets) and 253 for the Westwood 800

Thread Count Sheets (advertised as 8(_)Othread count sheets). (Mot. at Ex. 8 (Astor Place) and

Ex. 9 (Westwood).) Pradip has failed to present any evidence that would contradict the veracity

of the testing reports provided by AAVN. Basedon the evidence presented, the ALJ finds that

the statements made by Pradip are literally false. ‘

As set forth supra, whether the statement is “literally false” is a question of fact. Clorox

Col, 228 F.3d at 34. First, the ALJ must determine the claim conveyed by the advertisement and,

second, it must then evaluate whether the claim is false. Id. Here, the claim conveyed is that

Pradip’s products contain either an 800 thread count or a 650 thread count, but the evidence

shows that the thread count is actually 250 thread count and 407 thread count, respectively.

(Mot. at Ex. 8 (Astor Place) and Ex. 9 (Westwood).) Thus, the AL] finds that the statement is

literally false.

B. Deception

The second element that AAVN must show is “that there is actual deception or at least a

tendency to deceive a substantial portion of the intended audience.” Groupe SEB, 774 F-.»3d198.

Here, the evidence shows that there is actual deception: Pradip claims that its Westwood 800

Thread Count Sheets and its Astor Place 650 Thread Count Sheets are the advertised thread

counts, but the actual thread count is 253 and 407, respectively. (Mot. at EX. 8 (Astor -Place) and

l3
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Ex. 9 (Westwood); Compl. Physical Ex. l4 (Westwood 800 Thread Count sheets).) Thus, the

ALJ finds that AAVN has shown actual deception.

C. Materiality

AAVN must show that the “deception is material in that it is likely to influence

purchasing decisions.” Groupe SEB, 774 F.3d 198. The evidence shows that thread count is an

important indicator of fabric quality for consumers and is used by consumers in making a

purchasing decision. (Mot. at Ex. 2 at 4 (Letter from National Textile Association to FTC).)

Thus, the ALI finds that AAVN has shown that thread counts are material to consumers in

determining the product’s quality.

D. Interstate Commerce

The fourth element to a false advertising claim is showing that the “advertised goods

traveled in interstate commerce.” Groupe SEB, 774 F.3d 198. The evidence shows that Pradip

has placed the accused products in interstate commerce. Pradip admits that its accused products,

which have been sold for importation and/or imported into the United States, are available for

purchase at retailers (such as Ross). (Mot. at EX. 5, W 94-95; Ex. 6, pp. 2-3; Ex. 7.) Therefore,

the ALJ finds that Pradip has placed the accused products in interstate commerce.

E. Injury

For the final element, AAVN must show that “there is a likelihood of injury to the

plaintiff in terms of declining sales, loss of good will, etc.” Groupe SEB, 774 F.3d 198. The

evidence shows that AAVN has been injured as a result Pradip’s misrepresentation of thread

counts. The evidence shows that AAVN has lost sales to competitors, including Pradip, which

have sold woven textile fabric products with misleading thread counts at lower prices.

Specifically, AAVN cites to its lost sales with retailers, such as Ross Stores, who do not have

14 »
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standards requiring testing to ensure that the products have the advertised thread counts. (Mot.

Ex. ll, 11114-6.) Such retailers declined to purchase sheets from AAVN because they found “the

goods for a lot less” —500 thread count sheets for $19.50 from competitors rather than for $21.94

from AAVN. (1d.) The evidence shows that these goods purchased by Ross Stores have lower

thread counts than those advertised. (Id. at Ex. ll, {H15-7.) AAVN was unable to meet these

lower prices, which were below cost, and estimates that AAVN’s lost salesexceed $100 million.

(Id.). ‘

The evidence clearly shows that AAVN has suffered substantial injury as a result of the

false claims of Pradip and its competitors regarding the actual thread count of its products and

their ability to sell their products to retailers at lower prices. Moreover, the ALJ finds that there

AAVN has suffered substantial injury to “an industry in the United States,” as required under

Section 337 based on AAVN’s lost sales. 19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(l)(A)(i); see also LED Products,

ID, p. 481 (quoting Electric Power Tools, ID, p. 246).

In conclusion, the ALJ finds that AAVN has presented evidence demonstrating that

Pradip’s false advertising of its woven textile ‘fabricproducts through the misrepresentati‘on.of

thread counts is an act of unfair competition in violation of Section 337. Moreover, there being

no evidence that raises any genuine issue of material fact, the ALJ finds that summary

determination is appropriate and that Pradip has violated Section 337. '

VI. REMEDY

A. General Exclusion Order V

Under Section 337(d), the Commission may issue either a limited or a general exclusion

order. A limited exclusion order instructs the U.S. Customs and Border Protection (‘_‘.CBP”)to

exclude from entry all articles that are covered by the patent atuissue and that originate from a
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named respondent in the investigation. A general exclusion order instructs the CBP to exclude

from entry all articles that are covered by the patent at issue, without regard to source.

A gcneral exclusion order may issue in cases where (a) a general exclusion from entry of

articles is necessary to prevent circumvention of an exclusion order limited to products of named

respondents; or (b) there is a widespread pattern of violation of Section 337 and it is difficult to

identify the source of infringing products. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(2). The statute essentially

codifies Commission practice under Certain Airless Paint Spray Pumps and Components

Thereoj", Inv. No. 337-TA-90, Commission Opinion at 18-19, USITC Pub. 119 (Nov. 1981)

(“Spray Pumps”). See Certain Neodymium-Iron-Boron Magnets, Magnet Alloys, and Articles

Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-372 (“Magnets”), Commission Opinion on Remedy, the

Public Interest and Bonding at 5 (USITC Pub. 2964 (1996)) (statutory standards “do not differ

significantly” from the standards set forth in Spray Pumps). In Magnets, the Commission

confirmed that there are two requirements for a general exclusion order: a “Widespread pattern

of unauthorized use” and “certain business conditions from which one might reasonably infer

that foreign manufacturers other than the respondents to the investigation may attempt to enter

the U.S. market with infringing articles.” The focus now is primarily on the statutory language

itself and not an analysis of the Spray Pump factors. Ground Fault Circuit Interrupters and

Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337.-TA-615, C0mm’n Op." at 25 ~(March 9, 2009);

Hydraulic Excavators and Components Thereoy’,Inv. No. 337-TA-582, Comm’n Op. at 16-17

(January 21, 2009). '

AAVN argues that a general exclusion order is appropriate in this investigation.
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1. Widespread Pattern of Unauthorized Use

AAVN argues that there is a widespread pattern of violation of Section 337 by named

respondents and non-respondents. AAVN argues that companies based outof India, Pakistan

and China continue to manufacture and import “high thread count CVC products” and points to

several recently imported and sold sheets that contain falsely advertised thread counts. (Mot. at

23.) Staff agrees that the evidence shows a widespread pattern of violation of Section 337,

including importation of falsely advertised products by named respondents as well as importation

by non-respondents. (Staff Resp. at 14.) g

The ALJ finds that the evidence shows a widespread pattern of violation of Section 337.

Specifically, the evidence shows that respondents and non-respondents have imported and sold,

in the United States, products that have claimed a higher thread count than actually contained in

the products per testing performed under the ATSM D3775 standard. (Mot. at Exs. 14-17.)

Indeed, as recently as August 2016, imported sheets purchased at Ross Stores advertised thread

counts of 1000 TC and 750 TC, but had actual thread counts of 236 TC and 355 TC,

respectively. (Id. at Ex. 16.)

Thus, the ALJ finds that there is a widespread pattern of violation of Section 337.

2. Business Conditions

AAV Q argues a general exclusion order is warranted due to certain business conditions,

namely difficulty in identifying sources; the ease with which prior companies are simply

rebranded with a new name; and the ease of establishing new companies in countries. such as

India, Pakistan and China. (Mot. at 20-21.) Staff agrees that import records do notrevea-la-the

names of the manufacturers and that those manufacturers can be difficult to identify as e_vide_n_ced

17
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by Mr. Argawal’s testimony and the actual imported products that lack any manufacturer

information. (Staff Resp. at 15.)

The ALJ finds that the evidence shows that it is difficult to identify the source and

manufacturers of the falsely advertised products. Specifically, the evidence shows that U.S.

retailers fail to identify the manufacturer, importer or seller of the textile products at the point of

sale, which makes it difficult to trace it back to the manufacturer. (Mot. at Ex. 1 Q&A 29-30.)

The evidence further shows that import records do not reveal the names of the original

manufacturers of the materials used to construct the imported products thereby making it

difficult to identify the sources of the falsely advertised products. (Mot. at Ex. 14, 17, and 18.)

The product packaging of imported bedding sheets purchased from Ross Stores similarly fails to

identify the source of that product. (Id. at Ex. 16.)

Therefore, the ALJ finds that the evidence shows that it is difficult, if not impossible, to

identify the sources of the falsely advertised goods. '

3. Issuance of a General Exclusion Order

Accordingly, based on the evidence presented above, the ALJ finds that the issuance of 21

general exclusion order is warranted in this investigation.

4. Public Interest . g

The ALJ has not been presented with any evidence that a general exclusion order would

place an undue burden on public health and welfare or competitive conditions in the United

States or on U.S. customers. »

B. Limited Exclusion Order . '. ~

AAVN argues that, should a general exclusion orderfnot be warranted, ..then a limited,

exclusion order against Pradip should be issued. (Mot. at 22;) " " "

18
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The ALJ agrees that should the Commission determine not to issue a general exclusion order,

then a limited exclusion order against Pradip is appropriate. 

C. Bonding

The ALJ and Commission must detennine the amount of bond to be required of a

respondent, pursuant to Section 337(j)(3), during the 60-day Presidential review period following

the issuance of permanent relief, in the event that the Commission detennines to issue such a

remedy. The purpose of the bond is to protect the complainant from any injury. 19 C.F.R. §

210.42(a)(1)(ii), § 210.50(a)(3). p p

When reliable price information is available, the Commission-has often set the bond to

eliminate the differential between the domestic product and the imported, infringing product.

(See Certain Microsphere Adhesives, Processes for Making Same, and Products Containing

Same, Including Self-Stick Repositionable Notes, Inv. No. 337-TA-336, C0mrn’n Op. at 24

(1995).) AAVN argues that the bond be set at 100%. (Mot. at 25.) Staff agrees that a bond of

100% is appropriate. (Staff Resp. at 16-17.)

The ALJ finds that without any information to set a bond based on price differential, a

bond of 100% during the Presidential review period would be appropriate. _

VII. CONCLUSION

Based on the reasons set forth herein, it is the INITIAL DETERMINATION of the ALJ

that AAVN has shown by reliable, probative and substantial evidence that a violation of Section

337 has occurred through the importation of falsely advertised Woven textile fabrics. Therefore,

the motion for summary detennination is GRANTED.
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The ALJ recommends that the Commission issue a general exclusion order, or, in the

alternative, a limited exclusion order against Pradip. The ALJ further recommends that a bond

be set at 100% of the entered value of the imported infringing products.

Pursuant to l9 C.F.R. § 210.42(h), this initial determination shall become the.

determination of the Commission unless a party files a petition for review of the initial

determination pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.43(a), or the Commission, pursuant to 19 C.F.R. §

210.44, orders on its own motion a review of the initial determination or certain issues contained

herein. 

Within seven days of the date of this document, each party shall submit to the Office of

the Administrative Law Judges a statement as to whether or not it seeks to have any portion of

this document deleted from the public version.’ Any party seeking to have any portion of this

document deleted from the public version thereof shall also submit to this office a copy of this

document with red brackets indicating any portion asserted to contain confidential business

information. The patties’ submissions may be made by facsimile and/or hard copy by the

aforementioned date. The parties’ submissions concerning the public version of this document

need not be filed with the Commission Secretary.

SO ORDERED.

7TheodoreR. Essex /
Administrative Law Judge "
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